

# LA-UR-14-27018

Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited.

Title:	V&V of MCNP 6.1.1 Beta Against Intermediate and High-Energy Experimental Data
Author(s):	Mashnik, Stepan G
Intended for:	The MCNP6 Code Package
Issued:	2014-09-08

**Disclaimer:** Los Alamos National Laboratory, an affirmative action/equal opportunity employer, is operated by the Los Alamos National Security, LLC for the National NuclearSecurity Administration of the U.S. Department of Energy under contract DE-AC52-06NA25396. By approving this article, the publisher recognizes that the U.S. Government retains nonexclusive, royalty-free license to publish or reproduce the published form of this contribution, or to allow others to do so, for U.S. Government purposes. Los Alamos National Laboratory requests that the publisher identify this article as work performed under the auspices of the U.S. Departmentof Energy. Los Alamos National Laboratory strongly supports academic freedom and a researcher's right to publish; as an institution, however, the Laboratory does not endorse the viewpoint of a publication or guarantee its technical correctness. viewpoint of a publication or guarantee its technical correctness.

# V&V of MCNP 6.1.1 Beta Against Intermediate and High-Energy Experimental Data

# Stepan G. Mashnik

XCP-3, Los Alamos National Laboratory, Los Alamos, NM 87545, USA

### Abstract

This report presents a set of validation and verification (V&V) MCNP 6.1.1 beta results calculated in parallel, with MPI, obtained using its event generators at intermediate and highenergies compared against various experimental data. It also contains several examples of results using the models at energies below 150 MeV, down to 10 MeV, where data libraries are normally used. This report can be considered as the forth part of a set of MCNP6 Testing Primers, after its first, LA-UR-11-05129, and second, LA-UR-11-05627, and third, LA-UR-26944, publications, but is devoted to V&V with the latest, 1.1 beta version of MCNP6. The MCNP6 test-problems discussed here are presented in the **/VALIDATION\_CEM** and /VALIDATION\_LAQGSM/ subdirectories in the MCNP6 /Testing/ directory. README files that contain short descriptions of every input file, the experiment, the quantity of interest that the experiment measures and its description in the MCNP6 output files, and the publication reference of that experiment are presented for every test problem. Templates for plotting the corresponding results with **xmgrace** as well as pdf files with figures representing the final results of our V&V efforts are presented. Several technical "bugs" in MCNP 6.1.1 beta were discovered during our current V&V of MCNP6 while running it in parallel with MPI using its event generators. These "bugs" are to be fixed in the following version of MCNP6. Our results show that MCNP 6.1.1 beta using its CEM03.03, LAQGSM03.03, Bertini, and INCL+ABLA, event generators describes, as a rule, reasonably well different intermediate- and high-energy measured data. This primer isn't meant to be read from cover to cover. Readers may skip some sections and go directly to any test problem in which they are interested.

September 2014

# Contents

1. Introduction	3
2. Testing CEM, Bertini, and INCL+ABLA	3
2.1. $p + {}^{14}N$ Excitation Functions	3
2.2. $p + {}^{16}O$ Excitation Functions	
2.3. $p + {}^{27}Al$ Excitation Functions	
2.4. $p + {}^{28}Si$ Excitation Functions	16
2.5. Isotope Production from $10 - 90 \text{ MeV } p + {}^{159}\text{Tb}$	
3. Testing LAQGSM	
3.1. 790 $MeV/A^{129}Xe + {}^{27}Al$	
3.2. 600 $MeV/A$ <sup>56</sup> $Fe$ + <sup>12</sup> $C$	25
3.3. 1 $GeV/A^{208}Pb + {}^{9}Be$	
3.4. 120 GeV p and $\pi^+$ + <sup>nat</sup> Cu and <sup>nat</sup> Fe	
4. Conclusion	
Acknowledgments	
References	

### 1. Introduction

During the past several years, a major effort has been undertaken at the Los Alamos National Laboratory (LANL) to develop the transport code MCNP6 [1, 2], the latest and most advanced LANL Monte Carlo transport code produced by the XCP-3 and NEN-5 LANL Groups.

This report presents a set of Validation and Verification (V&V) test problems calculated in parallel, with MPI, with the latest version of MCNP6, MCNP 6.1.1 beta [3], using its event generators at intermediate and high-energies. It also contains several examples of results using the event generators at energies below 150 MeV, down to 10 MeV, where data libraries are normally used.

This report can be considered as the forth part of a set of MCNP6 Testing Primers at intermediate and high energies, after its first [4], second [5], and third [6], publications. It is devoted to V&V only of the latest, 1.1 beta version, of MCNP6 [3]. Part of the results presented here were discussed in more detail in our recent paper [7]. True, in Ref. [7], this was done mostly from a physical point of view, without addressing any MCNP6 input and output files and running of MCNP6 with MPI.

The MCNP6 test problems discussed here are presented in the /VALIDATION\_CEM/ and /VALIDATION\_LAQGSM/ subdirectories in the MCNP6 /Testing/ directory.

README files that contain short descriptions of every input file, the experiment, the quantity of interest that the experiment measures and its description in the MCNP6 output files, and the publication reference of that experiment are presented for every test problem. Templates for plotting the corresponding results with **xmgrace** as well as pdf files with figures representing the final results of our V&V efforts are presented. Several technical "bugs" in MCNP 6.1.1 beta were discovered during our current V&V of MCNP6, while running it in parallel with MPI using its event generators. These "bugs" are to be fixed in the following version of MCNP6. Our results show that MCNP 6.1.1 beta using its CEM03.03, LAQGSM03.03, Bertini, and INCL+ABLA, event generators describes, as a rule, reasonably well different intermediate- and high-energy measured data.

# 2. Testing CEM, Bertini, and INCL+ABLA

All the test problems discussed in this Section are presented in the VALIDATION\_CEM subdirectory in the basic /MCNP6/Testing/ directory.

# 2.1. $p + {}^{14}N$ Excitation Functions

This MCNP6 problem is to test the applicability of MCNP6 using the CEM03.03 event generator to describe excitation functions from the fragmentation of <sup>14</sup>N bombarded with protons from 10 MeV up to 5 GeV and to compare the results with available experimental data and with calculations by CEM03.03 used as a stand-alone code [8, 9] with two modifications of its Fermi break-up model, as described in Ref. [7].

Fragmentation reactions induced by protons and light nuclei of energies around 1 GeV/nucleon and below on light target nuclei are involved in different applications, like cosmic-ray-induced single event upsets (SEUs), radiation protection, and cancer therapy with proton and ion beams, among others. It is impossible to measure all nuclear data needed for such applications; therefore, Monte Carlo transport codes are normally used to simulate impacts associated with fragmentation reactions. It is important that available transport codes simulate such reactions as well as possible.

Note that prediction of cross sections of arbitrary products as functions of the incident energy of the projectiles initiating the reactions, i.e., of excitation functions, is one of the most difficult tasks for any theoretical model/code.

Experimental data for this test problem were published by many authors in different publications; detailed references to all measured data we use here can be found in our recent paper [7].

We calculated the reactions studied in this test problem with MCNP6, using its GENXS option [10], in parallel, with MPI, using 8 nodes, 64 processors, on the "Moonlight" LANL supercomputer, for the incident proton energies of 10, 20, 30, 40, 50, 60, 70, 80, 90, 100, 200, 300, 400, 500, 600, 700, 800, 900, 1000, 2000, 3000, 4000, and 5000 MeV. As the MCNP6 input files at all these incident energies differ only in their SDEF card, in the value of the input parameter ERG (i.e., the proton incident energy, in MeV), we present here only one example of the MCNP6 input and output files, at 1000 MeV. The main MCNP6 input file at 1000 MeV is p1000\_N14.CEM. For the second input files required by the GENXS option we use the same file, inxc96, at all incident energies listed above. Both p1000\_N14.CEM and inxc96 input files are presented in subdirectory \*/VALIDATION\_CEM/Inputs/.

Below, we provide both p1000\_N14.CEM and inxc96 MCNP6 input files used for this test problem.

#### **p1000\_N14.CEM**:

```
MCNP6 test: p + N14 by CEM03.03 at 1000 MeV, nevtype=66
     1.0
          -1 2 -3
 1
   1
 2
   0
          -4 (1:-2:3)
 3
   0
          4
     _____
 1
   cz 4.0
   pz -1.0
 2
 3
   pz 1.0
 4
   so
      50.0
 _____
С
     07014 1.0
 m1
 sdef erg = 1000 par = H dir = 1 pos = 0 0 0 vec 0 0 1
 imp:h 1 1 0
 phys:h 5001
 mode
      h
                                           !!!
LCA 8j 1
         $ use CEM03.03, nevtype = 66
 tropt genxs inxc96 nreact on nescat off
 _____
 print 40 110 95
 nps 10000
С
 nps 1000000
c prdmp 2j -1
```

### inxc96:

MCNP6 test: p + Ta181 by CEM03.03, nevtype=66
0 0 1 /
Cross Section Edit
0 0 9 /
1 5 6 7 8 21 22 23 24 /

In the current test problem, we compare the MCNP6 results for the  $p+^{14}N$  reaction with available data and with calculations by CEM03.03 used as a stand alone code for the total inelastic cross section and for excitation functions for the production of  $^{14}O$ ,  $^{13}N$ ,  $^{12}N$ ,  $^{13}C$ ,  $^{12}C$ ,  $^{11}C$ ,  $^{10}C$ ,  $^{11}B$ ,  $^{10}B$ ,  $^{10}Be$ ,  $^{9}Be$ ,  $^{7}Be$ ,  $^{9}Li$ ,  $^{8}Li$ , and t. The MCNP6 cross sections for the production of different isotopes are printed (in barns) in the corresponding portion of the table entitled "Distribution of residual nuclei" of the output file p1000\_N14.CEM.mpi.o presented in the subdirectory \*/VALIDATION\_CEM/Templates/LINUX/. The total inelastic cross section calculated by MCNP6 is printed in its output file just several lines higher, in the table entitled "nonelastic cross section". To help plotting all these results with xmgrace, we copy the MCNP6 values obtained at different incident proton energies into separate files.

To save space, we do not show here explicitly files with MCNP6 results for the total p+<sup>14</sup>N inelastic cross sections and for the production of <sup>14</sup>O, <sup>13</sup>N, <sup>12</sup>N, <sup>13</sup>C, <sup>12</sup>C, <sup>11</sup>C, <sup>10</sup>C, <sup>11</sup>B, <sup>10</sup>B, <sup>10</sup>Be, <sup>9</sup>Be, <sup>7</sup>Be, <sup>9</sup>Li, <sup>8</sup>Li, and t, as their values are included in the provided templates for the xmgrace figures we use to plot our results. Templates to plot with xmgrace the total p+<sup>14</sup>N inelastic cross sections and cross sections for the production of <sup>14</sup>O, <sup>13</sup>N, <sup>12</sup>N, <sup>13</sup>C, <sup>12</sup>C, <sup>11</sup>C, <sup>10</sup>C, <sup>11</sup>B, <sup>10</sup>Be, <sup>10</sup>Be, <sup>9</sup>Be, <sup>7</sup>Be, <sup>9</sup>Li, <sup>8</sup>Li, and t are presented in files sig\_in.fig, and O14.fig, N13.fig, N12.fig, C13.fig, C12.fig, C11.fig, C10.fig, B11.fig, B10.fig, Be10.fig, Be9.fig, Be7.fig, Li9.fig, Li8.fig, and t.fig, respectively, all shown in subdirectory \*/VALIDATION\_CEM/Experimental\_data/pN14/. These xmgrace files contain also all the experimental data as well as the results by CEM03.03 used as a stand alone code. Useful details and discussion of all these data and calculation results can be found in the listed above Ref. [7].

Postscript files generated by xmgrace for all our plots were generated in files with similar names, simply using in their names extensions "ps" instead of "fig".

To ease an overview of all our results, we provide two summary files pN14\_1.pdf and pN14\_2.pdf which show cross sections for all products studied here (see Figs. 1 and 2). These summary pdf files were produced with the LaTeX files pN14\_1.tex and pN14\_2.tex using the listed above postscript files as input.

The first thing to note is that the total reaction cross sections simulated with MCNP6 and shown in the upper-left plot in Fig. 1 with small solid circles agree well with the available experimental data (symbols) and with calculations by CEM03.03 used as a stand-alone code (solid line). There is a difference between the models, especially in the regions of incident proton energies  $T_p = 50-100$  MeV and  $T_p \ge 2$  GeV. To be expected, since MCNP6 and CEM03.03 use very similar, but slightly different approximations for the total proton-nucleus reaction cross sections (see details and references in [1, 8, 9]). These little differences in the total reaction cross sections will produce, respectively, similar differences in all excitation functions simulated with MCNP6 and CEM03.03.



Figure 1: Total inelastic cross sections and excitation functions for the production of <sup>14</sup>O, <sup>13</sup>N, <sup>12</sup>N, <sup>13</sup>C, <sup>12</sup>C, <sup>11</sup>C, and <sup>10</sup>C from p + <sup>14</sup>N calculated with CEM03.03 using the "standard" version of the Fermi break-up model ( $A_{Fermi} = 12$ ; solid black lines; see details in Ref. [7]) and with a cut-off value of 16 for  $A_{Fermi}$  (dashed blue lines), as well as with MCNP6 using CEM03.03 ( $A_{Fermi} = 12$ ; small solid black circles) compared with experimental data. Experimental data for inelastic cross sections are from Refs. [11]-[13], while the data for excitation functions are from the T16 Lib compilation [14].



Figure 2: Excitation functions for the production of <sup>11</sup>B, <sup>10</sup>B, <sup>10</sup>Be, <sup>9</sup>Be, <sup>7</sup>Be, <sup>9</sup>Li, <sup>8</sup>Li, and t from  $p + {}^{14}N$  calculated with CEM03.03 using the "standard" version of the Fermi breakup model ( $A_{Fermi} = 12$ ; solid black lines) and with a cut-off value of 16 for  $A_{Fermi}$  (dashed blue lines), as well as with MCNP6 using CEM03.03 ( $A_{Fermi} = 12$ ; small solid black circles) compared with experimental data. Experimental data are from the T16 Lib compilation [14].

The total reaction cross sections are based on systematics (see details and references in [1, 8]), therefore they do not depend on the value of  $A_{Fermi}$  we use in our calculations (see details about  $A_{Fermi}$  in Ref. [7]). However, we performed calculations of all excitation functions shown in Figs. 1 and 2 with CEM03.03 used as a stand-alone code with its "default value"  $A_{Fermi} = 12$ , as well as with a modification of the code using  $A_{Fermi} = 16$ , which in case of these p + <sup>14</sup>N reactions, actually corresponds to  $A_{Fermi} = 14$ : We cannot get a mass number A = 16 from p + <sup>14</sup>N interactions, and even a nucleus with A = 15 would not be produced by the INC of CEM03.03 at these intermediate energies.

First, from the results presented in Figs. 1 and 2, we see a very good agreement between the excitation functions simulated by MCNP6 using CEM03.03 and calculations by CEM03.03 used as a stand-alone code. We also can see a reasonable agreement with most of the available experimental data. This fact shows no problems with the implementation of CEM03.03 in MCNP6 or with the simulations of these reactions by either code.

Second, we'd like to explicitly inform the readers that we do not worry too much about some observed discrepancies between some calculated excitation functions and measured data at low energies, below 20 MeV. As default, MCNP6 uses data libraries at such low energies and never uses CEM03.03 or its other event generators, if data libraries are available (MCNP6 has proton-induced data libraries for the reactions studied here). By contrast, CEM uses its INC to simulate the first stage of nuclear reactions, and the INC is not supposed to work properly at such low energies (see details in [1, 8]).

Third, results calculated both with  $A_{Fermi} = 12$  and 16 agree reasonably well with available data, taking into account that all calculations, at all energies and for all reactions were done with the fixed version of our codes, without any tuning or changing of any parameters. However, in some cases, we can observe significant differences between excitation functions calculated with  $A_{Fermi} = 12$  and 16.

For this particular reaction, the excitation functions for the production of <sup>14</sup>O, <sup>13</sup>N, <sup>12</sup>N, <sup>13</sup>C, <sup>12</sup>C, and <sup>10</sup>C calculated with  $A_{Fermi} = 16$  (that for our p + <sup>14</sup>N reaction is the same as  $A_{Fermi} = 14$ , which from a physical point of view means that we use only Fermi breakup after INC and never use preequilibrium and/or evaporation models to calculate this reaction) agree better with available experimental data than results obtained with  $A_{Fermi} = 12$ . On the other hand, excitation functions for the production of <sup>9</sup>Be and <sup>7</sup>Be are reproduced better with  $A_{Fermi} = 12$ .

# 2.2. $p + {}^{16}O$ Excitation Functions

This MCNP6 problem is to test the applicability of MCNP6 using the CEM03.03 event generator to describe excitation functions from the fragmentation of <sup>16</sup>O bombarded with protons from 10 MeV up to 5 GeV and to compare the results with available experimental data and with calculations by CEM03.03 used as a stand-alone code with three modifications of its Fermi break-up model, as described in Ref. [7]. This test problem is somehow similar to the previous problem, # 24. But it is for another target nucleus, studies excitation functions of many final products not covered by problem #24, and involves an additional modification of the Fermi break-up model of CEM.

Fragmentation reactions induced by protons and light nuclei of energies around 1 GeV/nucleon and below on light target nuclei are involved in different applications, like cosmic-ray-induced single event upsets (SEUs), radiation protection, and cancer therapy with proton and ion beams, among others. It is impossible to measure all nuclear data needed for such applications; therefore, Monte Carlo transport codes are usually used to simulate impacts associated with fragmentation reactions. It is important that available transport codes simulate such reactions as well as possible.

Note that prediction of cross sections of arbitrary products as functions of the incident energy of the projectiles initiating the reactions, i.e., of excitation functions, is one of the most difficult tasks for any theoretical model/code.

Experimental data for this test problem were published by many authors in different publications; detailed references to all measured data we use here can be found in the paper [7] and references therein.

We calculated the reactions studied in this test problem with MCNP6, using its GENXS option, in parallel, with MPI, using 8 nodes, 64 processors, on the "Moonlight" LANL supercomputer, for the incident proton energies of 10, 20, 30, 40, 50, 60, 70, 80, 90, 100, 200, 300, 400, 500, 600, 700, 800, 900, 1000, 2000, 3000, 4000, and 5000 MeV. As the MCNP6 input files at all these incident energies differ only in their SDEF card, in the value of the input parameter ERG (i.e., the proton incident energy, in MeV), we present here only one example of the MCNP6 input and output files, at 1000 MeV. The main MCNP6 input file at 1000 MeV is p1000\_O16.CEM. For the second input files required by the GENXS option we use the same file, inxc96, at all incident energies listed above. Our p1000\_O16.CEM and inxc96 input files are presented in subdirectory \*/VALIDATION\_CEM/Inputs/.

Below, we provide both p1000\_O16.CEM and inxc96 MCNP6 input files used for this test problem.

#### **p1000\_O16.CEM**:

```
MCNP6 test: p + 016 by CEM03.03 at 1000 MeV, nevtype=66
 1
   1
     1.0
         -1 2 -3
 2
         -4 (1:-2:3)
   0
 3
   0
          4
       _____
 1
   cz 4.0
 2
   pz -1.0
 3
   pz 1.0
 4
   SO
      50.0
 08016 1.0
 m1
 sdef erg = 1000 par = H dir = 1 pos = 0 0 0 vec 0 0 1
 imp:h 1 1 0
 phys:h 5001
 mode
      h
                                          !!!
LCA 8j 1
         suse CEM03.03, nevtype = 66
 tropt genxs inxc96 nreact on nescat off
с -----
 print 40 110 95
 nps 10000
С
 nps 1000000
```

### inxc96:

```
MCNP6 test: p + Ta181 by CEM03.03, nevtype=66
0 0 1 /
Cross Section Edit
0 0 9 /
1 5 6 7 8 21 22 23 24 /
```

In the current test problem, we compare the MCNP6 results for the  $p+^{16}$ O reaction with available data and with calculations by CEM03.03 used as a stand alone code for the total inelastic cross section and for excitation functions for the production of <sup>15</sup>O, <sup>14</sup>O, <sup>13</sup>N, <sup>14</sup>C, <sup>11</sup>C, <sup>10</sup>C, <sup>11</sup>B, <sup>10</sup>B, <sup>10</sup>Be, <sup>9</sup>Be, <sup>7</sup>Be, <sup>9</sup>Li, <sup>7</sup>Li, <sup>6</sup>Li, and t. The MCNP6 cross sections for the production of different isotopes are printed (in barns) in the corresponding portion of the table entitled "Distribution of residual nuclei" of the output file p1000\_O16.CEM.mpi.o presented in the subdirectory \*/VALIDATION\_CEM/Templates/LINUX/. The total inelastic cross section calculated by MCNP6 is printed in its output file just several lines higher, in the table entitled "nonelastic cross section". To help plotting all these results with xmgrace, we copy the MCNP6 values obtained at different incident proton energies into separate files.

To save space, we do not show here explicitly files with MCNP6 results for the total p+<sup>16</sup>O inelastic cross sections and for the production of <sup>15</sup>O, <sup>14</sup>O, <sup>13</sup>N, <sup>14</sup>C, <sup>11</sup>C, <sup>10</sup>C, <sup>11</sup>B, <sup>10</sup>B, <sup>10</sup>Be, <sup>9</sup>Be, <sup>7</sup>Be, <sup>9</sup>Li, <sup>7</sup>Li, <sup>6</sup>Li, and t, as their values are included in the provided templates for the xmgrace figures we use to plot our results. Templates to plot with xmgrace the total p+<sup>16</sup>O inelastic cross sections and cross sections for the production of <sup>15</sup>O, <sup>14</sup>O, <sup>13</sup>N, <sup>14</sup>C, <sup>11</sup>C, <sup>10</sup>C, <sup>11</sup>B, <sup>10</sup>B, <sup>10</sup>Be, <sup>9</sup>Be, <sup>7</sup>Be, <sup>9</sup>Li, <sup>7</sup>Li, <sup>6</sup>Li, and t are presented in files sig\_in.fig, and O15.fig, O14.fig, N13.fig, C14.fig, C11.fig, C10.fig, B11.fig, B10.fig, Be10.fig, Be9.fig, Be7.fig, Li9.fig, Li7.fig, Li6.fig, and t.fig, respectively, all shown in subdirectory \*/VALIDATION\_CEM/Experimental\_data/pO16/. These xmgrace files contain also all the experimental data as well as the results by CEM03.03 used as a stand alone code. Useful details and discussion of all these data and calculation results can be found in the listed above paper [7].

Postscript files generated by xmgrace for all our plots were generated in files with similar names, simply using in their names extensions "ps" instead of "fig".

To ease an overview of all our results, we provide two summary files pO16\_1.pdf and pO16\_2.pdf which shows cross sections for all products studied here (see Figs. 3 and 4). These summary pdf files were produced with the LaTeX files pO16\_1.tex and pO16\_2.tex using the listed above postscript files as input.

Note that most of the experimental data for these reactions were measured on <sup>nat</sup>O, with only a few data points obtained for <sup>16</sup>O; all our calculations were performed for <sup>16</sup>O. For these reactions, we performed three sets of calculations, using  $A_{Fermi} = 12$ , 14, and 16 in CEM03.03 (see details in Ref. [7]). The general agreement/disagreement of our results with available measured data for oxygen is very similar to what we showed above for p + <sup>14</sup>N, with the major difference that almost all products from oxygen are better predicted with  $A_{Fermi} = 14$ ; production of <sup>11</sup>B is described a little better with  $A_{Fermi} = 16$ , while <sup>9</sup>Be and <sup>7</sup>Be are reproduced better with  $A_{Fermi} = 12$ , just as for nitrogen (see Figs. 1 and 2).



Figure 3: Total inelastic cross section and excitation functions for the production of <sup>15</sup>O, <sup>14</sup>O, <sup>13</sup>N, <sup>14</sup>C, <sup>11</sup>C, <sup>10</sup>C, and <sup>11</sup>B from p + <sup>16</sup>O calculated with CEM03.03 using the "standard" version of the Fermi break-up model ( $A_{Fermi} = 12$ ; solid black lines) and with cup-off values for  $A_{Fermi}$  of 16 (dashed blue lines) and 14 (long-dashed orange lines), as well as with MCNP6 using CEM03.03 ( $A_{Fermi} = 12$ ; small solid black circles) compared with experimental data. Experimental data for inelastic cross sections are from Refs. [11, 15, 16] while the data for excitation functions are from the T16 Lib compilation [14].



Figure 4: Excitation functions for the production of <sup>10</sup>B, <sup>10</sup>Be, <sup>9</sup>Be, <sup>7</sup>Be, <sup>9</sup>Li, <sup>7</sup>Li, <sup>6</sup>Li, and t from p + <sup>16</sup>O calculated with CEM03.03 using the "standard" version of the Fermi breakup model ( $A_{Fermi} = 12$ ; solid black lines) and with cup-off values for  $A_{Fermi}$  of 16 (dashed blue lines) and 14 (long-dashed orange lines), as well as with MCNP6 using CEM03.03 ( $A_{Fermi} = 12$ ; small solid black circles) compared with experimental data. Experimental data are from the T16 Lib compilation [14].

# 2.3. $p + {}^{27}Al$ Excitation Functions

This MCNP6 problem is to test the applicability of MCNP6 using the CEM03.03 event generator to describe excitation functions from the fragmentation of <sup>27</sup>Al bombarded with protons from 10 MeV up to 5 GeV and to compare the results with available experimental data and with calculations by CEM03.03 used as a stand-alone code with three modifications of its Fermi break-up model, as described in Ref. [7]. This test problem is somehow similar to the previous problems, #24 and 25. But it is for another target nucleus and includes excitation functions of several final products not covered by problems #24 and 25.

Fragmentation reactions induced by protons and light nuclei of energies around 1 GeV/nucleon and below on light target nuclei are involved in different applications, like cosmic-ray-induced single event upsets (SEUs), radiation protection, and cancer therapy with proton and ion beams, among others. It is impossible to measure all nuclear data needed for such applications; therefore, Monte Carlo transport codes are usually used to simulate impacts associated with fragmentation reactions. It is important that available transport codes simulate such reactions as well as possible.

Note that prediction of cross sections of arbitrary products as functions of the incident energy of the projectiles initiating the reactions, i.e., of excitation functions, is one of the most difficult tasks for any theoretical model/code.

Experimental data for this test problem were published by many authors in different publications; detailed references to all measured data we use here can be found in the paper [7]. and references therein.

We calculated the reactions studied in this test problem with MCNP6, using its GENXS option, in parallel, with MPI, using 8 nodes, 64 processors, on the "Moonlight" LANL supercomputer, for the incident proton energies of 10, 20, 30, 40, 50, 60, 70, 80, 90, 100, 200, 300, 400, 500, 600, 700, 800, 900, 1000, 2000, 3000, 4000, and 5000 MeV. As the MCNP6 input files at all these incident energies differ only in their SDEF card, in the value of the input parameter ERG (i.e., the proton incident energy, in MeV), we present here only one example of the MCNP6 input and output files, at 1000 MeV. The main MCNP6 input file at 1000 MeV is p1000\_Al27.CEM. For the second input files required by the GENXS option we use the same file, inxc96, at all incident energies listed above. Our p1000\_Al27.CEM and inxc96 input files are presented in subdirectory \*/VALIDATION\_CEM/Inputs/.

Below, we provide both p1000\_Al27.CEM and inxc96 MCNP6 input files used for this test problem.

# **p1000\_Al27.CEM**:

MCNP6 test: p + A127 by CEM03.03 at 1000 MeV, nevtype=66 1 1 1.0 -1 2 -3 2 0 -4 (1:-2:3) 3 0 4 \_\_\_\_\_ С 1 4.0 cz 2 -1.0 pz 3 pz 1.0 4 so 50.0

```
m1
      13027 1.0
 sdef erg = 1000 par = H dir = 1 pos = 0 0 0 vec 0 0 1
 imp:h 1 1 0
 phys:h 5001
 mode
       h
LCA 8j 1
           $ use CEM03.03, nevtype = 66
                                                     !!!
 tropt genxs inxc96 nreact on nescat off
с -----
             _____
 print 40 110 95
  nps 10000
С
 nps 1000000
 prdmp 2j -1
С
```

\_\_\_\_\_

#### inxc96:

MCNP6 test: p + Ta181 by CEM03.03, nevtype=66 0 0 1 / Cross Section Edit 0 0 9 / 1 5 6 7 8 21 22 23 24 /

In the current test problem, we compare the MCNP6 results for the  $p+^{27}$ Al reaction with available data and with calculations by CEM03.03 used as a stand alone code for the total inelastic cross section and for excitation functions for the production of <sup>13</sup>N, <sup>11</sup>C, <sup>10</sup>Be, <sup>7</sup>Be, <sup>9</sup>Li, <sup>6</sup>He, <sup>4</sup>He, <sup>3</sup>He, t, d, and p. The MCNP6 cross sections for the production of different isotopes are printed (in barns) in the corresponding portion of the table entitled "Distribution of residual nuclei" of the output file p1000\_Al27.CEM.mpi.o presented in the subdirectory \*/VALIDATION\_CEM/Templates/LINUX/. The total inelastic cross section calculated by MCNP6 is printed in its output file just several lines higher, in the table entitled "nonelastic cross section". To help plotting all these results with xmgrace, we copy the MCNP6 values obtained at different incident proton energies into separate files.

To save space, we do not show here explicitly files with MCNP6 results for the total  $p+^{27}Al$  inelastic cross sections and for the production of  $^{13}N$ ,  $^{11}C$ ,  $^{10}Be$ ,  $^{7}Be$ ,  $^{9}Li$ ,  $^{6}He$ ,  $^{4}He$ ,  $^{3}He$ , t, d, and p, as their values are included in the provided templates for the xmgrace figures we use to plot our results. Templates to plot with xmgrace the total  $p+^{27}Al$  inelastic cross sections and cross sections for the production of  $^{13}N$ ,  $^{11}C$ ,  $^{10}Be$ ,  $^{7}Be$ ,  $^{9}Li$ ,  $^{6}He$ ,  $^{4}He$ ,  $^{3}He$ , t, d, and p, are presented in files sigin.fig, and n13.fig, c11.fig, be10.fig, be7.fig, li9.fig, he6.fig, he4.fig, he3.fig, t.fig, d.fig, and p.fig, respectively, all shown in subdirectory \*/VAL-IDATION\_CEM/Experimental\_data/pAl27/. These xmgrace files contain also all the experimental data as well as the results by CEM03.03 used as a stand alone code. Useful details and discussion of all these data and calculation results can be found in the listed above paper [7].

Postscript files generated by xmgrace for all our plots were generated in files with similar names, simply using in their names extensions "eps" instead of "fig".

To ease an overview of all our results, we provide a summary file pAl27\_1.pdf which shows cross sections for all products studied here (see Fig. 5). This summary pdf file was produced with the LaTeX file pAl\_1.tex using the listed above postscript files as input.



Figure 5: Total inelastic cross section and excitation functions for the production of <sup>13</sup>N, <sup>11</sup>C, <sup>10</sup>Be, <sup>7</sup>Be, <sup>9</sup>Li, <sup>6</sup>He, <sup>4</sup>He, <sup>3</sup>He, t, d, and p from p + <sup>27</sup>Al calculated with CEM03.03 using the "standard" version of the Fermi break-up model ( $A_{Fermi} = 12$ ; solid black lines) and with cupoff values for  $A_{Fermi}$  of 16 (dashed blue lines) and 14 (long-dashed orange lines), as well as with MCNP6 using CEM03.03 ( $A_{Fermi} = 12$ ; small solid black circles) compared with experimental data. Experimental data for inelastic cross sections are from Refs. [11, 17, 18], while the data for excitation functions are from the T16 Lib compilation [14].

Aluminum as a target is very interesting because it is used in many applications. From a theoretical point of view,  $p + {}^{27}Al$  reactions are challenging because Al is relatively light, with significant contributions from the Fermi breakup models in our simulations. At the same time Al has mass number higher than the discussed above values of  $A_{Fermi}$  (see details in Ref. [7]), allowing some significant contribution to the calculated cross sections from preequilibrium and evaporation processes. On the whole, the agreement of the results with available measured data for Al is very similar to what we find for N and O. In many cases, we get a better description of the heavy fragments when we use  $A_{Fermi} = 16$  or 14, and usually we predict a little better the light fragments using  $A_{Fermi} = 12$ . For comparison, for Al, we show also excitation functions for the production of all complex particles from d to <sup>4</sup>He, as well as of secondary protons, as we found experimental data available for them. Because the absolute values of the yields of light fragment production is much lower compared to the yields of complex particles, and especially of protons, the production cross sections of d, t, <sup>3</sup>He, <sup>4</sup>He, and especially of p, calculated with different values of  $A_{Fermi}$  are very close to each other. This is true also for the production of neutrons; although we do not have experimental data for neutron production for these reactions. Generally, emission of nucleons and complex particles are the most determinative in the calculation of spallation products (heavier residuals) from reactions on medium-mass nuclei, while LF yields are generally low, and their calculation does not affect significantly the final cross sections for these heavier products.

# 2.4. $p + {}^{28}Si$ Excitation Functions

This MCNP6 problem is to test the applicability of MCNP6 using the CEM03.03 event generator to describe excitation functions from the fragmentation of <sup>28</sup>Si bombarded with protons from 10 MeV up to 5 GeV and to compare the results with available experimental data and with calculations by CEM03.03 used as a stand-alone code with three modifications of its Fermi break-up model, as described in Ref. [7]. This test problem is somehow similar to the previous problem, #26. But it is for another target nucleus and includes excitation function of a final product not covered by the problem #26.

Fragmentation reactions induced by protons and light nuclei of energies around 1 GeV/nucleon and below on light target nuclei are involved in different applications, like cosmic-ray-induced single event upsets (SEUs), radiation protection, and cancer therapy with proton and ion beams, among others. It is impossible to measure all nuclear data needed for such applications; therefore, Monte Carlo transport codes are usually used to simulate impacts associated with fragmentation reactions. It is important that available transport codes simulate such reactions as well as possible.

Note that prediction of cross sections of arbitrary products as functions of the incident energy of the projectiles initiating the reactions, i.e., of excitation functions, is one of the most difficult tasks for any theoretical model/code.

Experimental data for this test problem were published by many authors in different publications; detailed references to all measured data we use here can be found in the paper [7] and references therein.

We calculated the reactions studied in this test problem with MCNP6, using its GENXS option, in parallel, with MPI, using 8 nodes, 64 processors, on the "Moonlight" LANL supercomputer, for the incident proton energies of 10, 20, 30, 40, 50, 60, 70, 80, 90, 100, 200, 300, 400, 500, 600, 700, 800, 900, 1000, 2000, 3000, 4000, and 5000 MeV. As the MCNP6 input files at all these incident energies differ only in their SDEF card, in the value of the input parameter ERG (i.e., the proton incident energy, in MeV), we present here only one example of the MCNP6 input and output files, at 1000 MeV. The main MCNP6 input file at 1000 MeV is p1000\_Si28.CEM. For the second input file required by the GENXS option we use the same file, inxc96, at all incident energies listed above. Our p1000\_Si28.CEM and inxc96 input files are presented in subdirectory \*/VALIDATION\_CEM/Inputs/.

Below, we provide both p1000\_Si28.CEM and inxc96 MCNP6 input files used for this test problem.

## p1000\_Si28.CEM:

```
MCNP6 test: p + Si28 by CEM03.03 at 1000 MeV, nevtype=66
 1
  1 1.0 -1 2 -3
 2 0
         -4 (1:-2:3)
 3 0
          4
с -----
 1 cz 4.0
 2 pz -1.0
 3
   pz 1.0
 4 so 50.0
c -----
    14028 1.0
 m1
 sdef erg = 1000 par = H dir = 1 pos = 0 0 0 vec 0 0 1
 imp:h 1 1 0
 phys:h 5001
 mode
      h
LCA 8j 1  $ use CEM03.03, nevtype = 66
                                         !!!
 tropt genxs inxc96 nreact on nescat off
۶ ------
 print 40 110 95
c nps 10000
 nps 1000000
c prdmp 2j -1
```

# inxc96:

MCNP6 test: p + Ta181 by CEM03.03, nevtype=66 0 0 1 / Cross Section Edit 0 0 9 / 1 5 6 7 8 21 22 23 24 /



Figure 6: Total inelastic cross section and excitation functions for the production of <sup>13</sup>N, <sup>14</sup>C, <sup>11</sup>C, <sup>10</sup>Be, <sup>7</sup>Be, <sup>9</sup>Li, <sup>4</sup>He, <sup>3</sup>He, t, d, and p from p + <sup>28</sup>Si calculated with CEM03.03 using the "standard" version of the Fermi break-up model ( $A_{Fermi} = 12$ ; solid black lines) and with cupoff values for  $A_{Fermi}$  of 16 (dashed blue lines) and 14 (long-dashed orange lines), as well as with MCNP6 using CEM03.03 ( $A_{Fermi} = 12$ ; small solid black circles) compared with experimental data. Experimental data for inelastic cross sections are from Refs. [11, 17], while the data for excitation functions are from the T16 Lib compilation [14].

In the current test problem, we compare the MCNP6 results for the  $p+^{28}Si$  reaction with available data and with calculations by CEM03.03 used as a stand alone code for the total inelastic cross section and for excitation functions for the production of <sup>13</sup>N, <sup>14</sup>C, <sup>11</sup>C, <sup>10</sup>Be, <sup>7</sup>Be, <sup>9</sup>Li, <sup>4</sup>He, <sup>3</sup>He, t, d, and p. The MCNP6 cross sections for the production of different isotopes are printed (in barns) in the corresponding portion of the table entitled "Distribution of residual nuclei" of the output file p1000\_Si28.CEM.mpi.o presented in the subdirectory \*/VAL-IDATION\_CEM/Templates/LINUX/. The total inelastic cross section calculated by MCNP6 is printed in its output file just several lines higher, in the table entitled "nonelastic cross section". To help plotting all these results with xmgrace, we copy the MCNP6 values obtained at different incident proton energies into separate files.

To save space, we do not show here explicitly files with MCNP6 results for the total  $p+^{28}$ Si inelastic cross sections and for the production of <sup>13</sup>N, <sup>14</sup>C, <sup>11</sup>C, <sup>10</sup>Be, <sup>7</sup>Be, <sup>9</sup>Li, <sup>4</sup>He, <sup>3</sup>He, t, d, and p, as their values are included in the provided templates for the xmgrace figures we use to plot our results. Templates to plot with xmgrace the total  $p+^{28}$ Si inelastic cross sections and cross sections for the production of <sup>13</sup>N, <sup>14</sup>C, <sup>11</sup>C, <sup>10</sup>Be, <sup>7</sup>Be, <sup>9</sup>Li, <sup>4</sup>He, <sup>3</sup>He, t, d, and p, are presented in files sigin.fig, and n13.fig, c14.fig, c11.fig, be10.fig, be7.fig, li9.fig, he4.fig, he3.fig, t.fig, d.fig, and p.fig, respectively, all shown in subdirectory \*/VALIDA-TION\_CEM/Experimental\_data/pSi28/. These xmgrace files contain also all the experimental data as well as the results by CEM03.03 used as a stand alone code. Useful details and discussion of all these data and calculation results can be found in the listed above Ref. [7].

Postscript files generated by xmgrace for all our plots were generated in files with similar names, simply using in their names extensions "eps" instead of "fig".

To ease an overview of all our results, we provide a summary file pSi28.pdf which shows cross sections for all products studied here (see Fig. 6). This summary pdf file was produced with the LaTeX file pSi28.tex using the listed above postscript files as input.

All reactions on silicon were calculated for <sup>28</sup>Si, while most of the data were measured from <sup>nat</sup>Si (see details in legends of Fig. 6). Silicon as a target is very interesting because it is used in many applications. From a theoretical point of view,  $p + {}^{28}Si$  reactions are challenging because Si is relatively light, with significant contributions from the Fermi breakup models in our simulations. At the same time Si has mass number higher than the discussed above values of  $A_{Fermi}$  (see details in Ref. [7]), allowing some significant contribution to the calculated characteristics from preequilibrium and evaporation processes. On the whole, the agreement of the results with available measured data for Si is very similar to what we find for Al, O, and N. In many cases, we get a better description of the heavy fragments when we use  $A_{Fermi} = 16$  or 14, and usually we predict a little better the light fragments using  $A_{Fermi} = 12$ . For comparison, for Si, we show also excitation functions for the production of all complex particles from d to <sup>4</sup>He, as well as of secondary protons, as we found experimental data available for them. Because the absolute values of the yields of light fragment production is much lower compared to the yields of complex particles, and especially of protons, the production cross sections of d, t, <sup>3</sup>He, <sup>4</sup>He, and especially of p calculated with different values of  $A_{Fermi}$  are very close to each other. This is true also for the production of neutrons, although we do not have experimental data for neutron production for these reactions. Generally, emission of nucleons and complex particles are the most determinative in the calculation of spallation products (heavier residuals) from reactions on medium-mass nuclei, while LF yields are generally low, and their calculation does not affect significantly the final cross sections of spallation products.

# 2.5. Isotope Production from 10 - 90 MeV p + $^{159}$ Tb

This problem is to test the applicability of MCNP6 using the CEM03.03 [8], Bertini + MPM + Dresner + RAL [19, 20, 21, 22], and INCL + ABLA [23, 24] event-generators to predict cross sections for the production of isotopes of interest in medical, astrophysical, and basic science research from a thin terbium target bombarded with a proton beam of energy below 100 MeV.

The proton-induced fission cross section of Tb is very low, therefore some models like the RAL fission model used as the default option of MCNP6 for such reactions together with the Bertini INC [19], the Multistage Preequilibrium Model (MPM) [20] and the Dresner evaporation model [21], does not account for fission of Tb at all (see more details in [22]). In addition, predictions by CEM03.03 [8] and INCL + ABLA [23, 24] event generators for such processes differ significantly, therefore the ability of MCNP6 to simulate proton-induced reactions on Tb must be carefully investigated.

Experimental cross sections of nuclide production from terbium were very scarce until recently, when new measurements for this reaction at proton incident energy of 800 MeV have been completed at LANSCE, LANL. The new LANL data are published in the paper [25]. After the completion of this work, additional measurements on Tb were performed at LANSCE, by the same LANL Group, at lower proton incident energies, below 100 MeV. These new Tb data at lower energies are still under processing and analysis and are not published yet. It is interesting how MCNP6 predicts these data, especially taking into account that no experimental data on Tb in this energy region were published so far in the literature, making our MCNP6 calculations as a pure, 100% prediction for such reactions.

For this test problem, we performed MCNP6 calculations with its GENXS option, in parallel, with MPI, using 8 nodes, 64 processors, on the "Moonlight" LANL supercomputer, using the CEM03.03 [8], Bertini + MPM + Dresner + RAL [19, 20, 21, 22], and INCL + ABLA citeINCL, ABLA event-generators at 10, 20, 30, 40, 50, 60, 70, 80, and 90 MeV. Results of all our predictions will be compared with the new experimental data and published in a separate paper when the analysis of data is completed. Since MCNP6 input files at different incident energies differ only in their SDEF card, in the value of the input parameter ERG (i.e., the proton incident energy, in MeV), here, we show only one example of the MCNP6 input and output files, at 90 MeV. The main MCNP6 input files for the CEM03.03, Bertini, and INCL+ABLA event generators are p90Tb\_CEM, p90Tb\_Bert, and p90Tb\_INCL, respectively. For the second input file required by the GENXS option we use the same file, inxc95, for all models. All these input files are presented in subdirectory \*/VALIDATION\_CEM/Inputs/.

The main MCNP6 input file for the CEM03.03 event generator is **p90Tb\_CEM**. It is provided together with the second auxiliary input file, **inxc95**, in subdirectory /VALIDA-TION\_CEM/Inputs/ and both are also shown below.

#### p90Tb\_CEM:

```
MCNP6 test: p + Tb159 by CEM03.03 at 90 MeV, nevtype=66
C Medical Ac-225 production for alpha cancer therapy
1 1 1.0 -1 2 -3
2 0 -4 (1:-2:3)
3 0 4
```

```
cz 4.0
 1
 2
      -1.0
   pz
 3
   pz 1.0
 4
   SO
      50.0
             _____
 _____
С
     65159 1.0
 m1
 sdef erg = 90 par = H dir = 1 pos = 0 0 0 vec 0 0 1
 imp:h 1 1 0
 phys:h 1000
 mode
      h
         $ use CEM03.03, nevtype = 66
                                             !!!
LCA 8j 1
 tropt genxs inxc95 nreact on nescat off
 _____
 print 40 110 95
С
 nps 10000
С
 nps 1000000
c prdmp 2j -1
```

#### inxc95:

MCNP6 test: p + Th232 by CEM03.03 at 800 MeV, nevtype=66
1 0 1 /
Cross Section Edit
50 0 9 /
5. 10. 15. 20. 25. 30. 35. 40. 45. 50. 55. 60. 65. 70. 75. 80.
85. 90. 95. 100. 120. /
1 5 6 7 8 21 22 23 24 /

The main MCNP6 input files for the Bertini and INCL+ABLA models are **p90Tb\_Bert** and **p90Tb\_INCL**. Both of them use the same auxiliary input file, **inxc95**, shown above, and both are provided in the subdirectory /VALIDATION\_CEM/Inputs/.

The only difference of **p90Tb\_INCL** from the **p90Tb\_CEM** and **p90Tb\_Bert** input files is in the **LCA** and **LEA** cards. In the case of INCL+ABLA, these cards in the input file look like:

LCA 2 1 0 4j -1 2 \$ use INCL+ABLA !!! lea 2j 0

while for the Bertini option, we need to add in the MCNP6 main input file the cards:

lca 2 1 5j -1 0 \$ Use Bertini: LCA(9)=0 lea 2j 0

otherwise MCNP6 will perform calculations using CEM03.03.

As mentioned above, the new experimental data are still under analysis and not available to us. The only preliminary experimental values we have now, are an estimation of the cross sections for the production of Tb153 and Gd153, that constitutes the most part of the total yield for products with A=153, at the incident energy of 97 MeV [26]. This preliminary experimental value for A=153 is presented in the file A153.exp.dat; we use it to compare with the MCNP6 predicted A-distributions at 90 MeV (see Fig. 7).

MCNP6 results using the CEM03.03, Bertini, and INCL+ABLA event generators are in the output files p90Tb\_CEM.mpi.o, p90Tb\_Bert.mpi.o, and p90Tb\_INCL.mpi.o, respectively, all presented in subdirectory \*/VALIDATION\_CEM/Experimental\_data/90MeV\_pTb/. Cross sections for the production of all isotopes from this reaction are printed in table entitled "Distribution of residual nuclei" of the corresponding MCNP6 output files. To help plotting these A-distributions with xmgrace, we copy them into separate files p90Tb\_M6CEM.A.dat, p90Tb\_M6Bert.A.dat, and p90Tb\_M6INCL.A.dat, for the CEM, Bertini, and INCL+ABLA cases, respectively. The file p90Tb\_A.fig is a template for plotting the mass distribution of all products from our reaction with with xmgrace. The pdf file for the figure is p90Tb\_A.pdf (see Fig. 7). All these files are presented in the same subdirectory:

/VALIDATION\_CEM/Experimental\_data/90MeV\_pTb/.



Figure 7: Comparison of mass distributions of product yields calculated with MCNP6 using CEM03.03 [8, 9], Bertini+MPM+Dresner+RAL [19, 20, 21, 22], and INCL+ABLA [23, 24] from 90 MeV p +  $^{159}$ Tb with preliminary experimental cross section for the production of ions with A=153 at 97 MeV [26] estimated by the LANL Group that had measured and published results for this reaction at 800 MeV [25]; final experimental data at several energies below 200 MeV will be published by the same LANL Group after analysis of all measurements are completed.

# 3. Testing LAQGSM

All the test problems discussed in this Section are presented in the VALIDATION\_LAQGSM subdirectory in the basic /MCNP6/Testing/ directory.

# 3.1. 790 MeV/A $^{129}$ Xe + $^{27}$ Al

This MCNP6 problem is to test the applicability of MCNP6 using the LAQGSM03.03 event generator to describe projectile fragmentation from nucleus-nucleus reactions at high energies. Such reactions are powerful tools to produce intensive beams of exotic nuclei even close to driplines. They are important for the planning of future experiments at Facility for Rare Isotope Beams (FRIB) and other radioactive beam facilities. Such studies should allow us to get more insight into the underlying reaction mechanisms. Also of considerable interest for the study of nuclei at the borderline of stability is whether the isotopic yields may be influenced by the use of appropriate neutron-rich or neutron-deficient projectiles.

Namely, in this test problem, we calculate with MCNP6 using LAQGSM03.03 with the GENXS option the yields of projectilelike fragments in the reaction  $^{129}Xe + ^{27}Al$  at a laboratory energy of 790 MeV/nucleon measured at the GSI facility in Darmstadt, Germany. Numerical valued of measured data are published Tab. I of the paper [29].

The MCNP6 main input file for this problem is Xe129\_Al\_790, presented in subdirectory /VALIDATION\_LAQGSM/Inputs/. Let us recall that the GENXS option of MCNP6 requires a second, auxiliary, input file; for this problem, we use the auxiliary MCNP6 input file xeal790, shown in the same subdirectory. Both these input files are also shown below.

#### Xe129\_Al\_790:

```
MCNP6 test: 790 MeV/A Xe129 + A127 by LAQGSM03.03, nevtype=66
      1.0
          -1 2 -3
 1
   1
 2
   0
          -4 (1:-2:3)
 3
   0
           4
    _____
 1
   cz 4.0
 2
   pz -1.0
 3
   pz
      1.0
 4
   so
      50.0
с -----
           _____
dbcn 28j 1
 m1 13027 1.0
 sdef erg=101910 par=54129 dir=1 pos=0 0 0 vec 0 0 1
 imp:n 1 1 0
 imp:h 1 1 0
 phys:g 200
 phys:d 200
 phys:h 200
```

```
phys:# 112100
 mode #natdsh
LCA
    2 1 5j -1 1j 1
                      $ use LAQGSM, nevtype = 66
                                                                  !!!
    0 0 0 0 0 0
lcb
lea 2j0
 tropt genxs xeal790 nreact on nescat off
  tropt genxs inxc69
С
 print 40 110 95
c nps 1000
 nps 10000000
 prdmp 500000 200000 1
```

#### **xeal790**:

MCNP6 test: 790 MeV/A Xe129 + A127 by LASQGSM03.0, nevtype=66 1 0 1 / Cross Section Edit 50 0 9 / 5. 10. 15. 20. 25. 30. 35. 40. 45. 50. 55. 60. 65. 70. 75. 80. 85. 90. 95. 100. 150. / 1 5 6 7 8 21 22 23 24 /

We calculated this test problem with MPI using 8 nodes, 64 processors, on the "Moonlight" supercomputer of LANL. The output file, Xe129\_Al\_790.mpi.o, is presented in subdirectory: /VALIDATION\_LAQGSM/Templates/LINUX/.

The MCNP6 cross sections for the production of different isotopes are printed (in barns) in the corresponding portion of the table entitled "Distribution of residual nuclei" of the output file. To help plotting these results with xmgrace, we copy here the MCNP6 results for all measured (only) products in separate files. The cross sections for the production of isotopes with Z=40, 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 52, 53, 54, and 55 are presented in files 40-m6.dat, 41-m6.dat, 42-m6.dat, 43-m6.dat, 44-m6.dat, 45-m6.dat, 46-m6.dat, 47-m6.dat, 48m6.dat, 49-m6.dat, 50-m6.dat, 51-m6.dat, 52-m6.dat, 53-m6.dat, 54-m6.dat, and 55-m6.dat, respectively.

Experimental data for all these products are presented in files with similar names, simply using in their names "exp" instead of "m6".

Template for plotting all these results compared with the measured data using xmgrace are presented in files 40.fig, 41.fig, 42.fig, 43.fig, 44.fig, 45.fig, 46.fig, 47.fig, 48.fig, 49.fig, 50.fig, 51.fig, 52.fig, 53.fig, 54.fig, and 55.fig, respectively.

Postscript files generated by xmgrace for all the plots are presented in files with similar names, simply using in their names extensions "ps" instead of "fig".

To ease an overview of all these product yields, we provide also a summary file Xe129Al27\_790.pdf which shows cross sections for all products with Z from 40 to 55. This summary pdf file was produced with the LaTeX file Xe129Al27\_790.tex using the listed above postscript files as input.



Figure 8: Experimental mass number distribution of product yields [29] (filled circles) from the 790 MeV/nucleon  $^{129}$ Xe +  $^{27}$ Al reaction compared with results by MCNP6 using the LAQGSM03.03 event-generator (red lines), as indicated.

# 3.2. 600 MeV/A ${}^{56}$ Fe + ${}^{12}$ C

This MCNP6 problem is to test the applicability of MCNP6 using the LAQGSM03.03 event generator to describe the individual elemental and isotopic cross sections from carbon targets, appropriate to the interpretation of the interstellar production of secondary fragments by cosmic rays propagating through the galaxy in order to determine the source elemental and isotopic composition of cosmic rays. At the same time, such cross sections are an important input for understanding the nuclear physics involved in these collisions.

Namely, in this test problem, we calculate with MCNP6 using LAQGSM03.03 with the GENXS option the yields of projectilelike fragments in the reaction  ${}^{56}$ Fe +  ${}^{12}$ C at a laboratory energy of 600 MeV/nucleon measured at the Lawrence Berkeley Laboratory Bevalac and compare the MCNP6 results with experimental data and with results by LAQGSM03.03 used as a stand-alone code. Numerical valued of measured data are published Tab. II of the paper [30].

The MCNP6 main input file for this problem is Fe600C, presented in subdirectory /VAL-IDATION\_LAQGSM/Inputs/. Let us recall that the GENXS option of MCNP6 requires a second, auxiliary, input file; for this problem, we use the auxiliary MCNP6 input file xeal790,

shown in the same subdirectory, and also presented below.

### **Fe600C**:

```
MCNP6 test: 600 MeV/A Fe56 + C12 by LAQGSM03.03, nevtype=66
 1 1 1.0 -1 2 -3
 2 0 -4 (1:-2:3)
 3 0 4
C ------
 1 cz 4.0
 2 pz -1.0
 3 pz 1.0
 4 so 50.0
с -----
dbcn 28j 1
 m1 6012 1.0
 sdef erg=33600 par=26056 dir=1 pos=0 0 0 vec 0 0 1
 imp:n 1 1 0
 imp:h 1 1 0
 phys:g 200
 phys:d 200
 phys:h 200
 phys:# 112100
 mode #natdsh
LCA 2 1 5j -1 1j 1  $ use LAQGSM, nevtype = 66
                                                  !!!
lcb 0 0 0 0 0 0
lea 2j O
 tropt genxs xeal790 nreact on nescat off
c tropt genxs inxc69
c -----
 print 40 110 95
c nps 1000
 nps 1000000
c prdmp 500000 200000 1
xeal790:
MCNP6 test: 790 MeV/A Xe129 + A127 by LASQGSM03.0, nevtype=66
101/
Cross Section Edit
```

50 0 9 / 5. 10. 15. 20. 25. 30. 35. 40. 45. 50. 55. 60. 65. 70. 75. 80. 85. 90. 95. 100. 150. / 1 5 6 7 8 21 22 23 24 / We calculated this test problem with MPI using 8 nodes, 64 processors, on the "Moonlight" supercomputer of LANL. The output file, Fe600C.mpi.o, is presented in subdirectory: /VALIDATION\_LAQGSM/Templates/LINUX/.

The MCNP6 cross sections for the production of different isotopes are printed (in barns) in the corresponding portion of the table entitled "Distribution of residual nuclei" of the output file. To help plotting these results with xmgrace, we copy here the MCNP6 results for all measured (only) products in separate files. The cross sections for the production of isotopes with Z=3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, and 26 are presented in files 3.m6.dat, 4.m6.dat, 5.m6.dat, 6.m6.dat, 7.m6.dat, 8.m6.dat, 9.m6.dat, 10.m6.dat, 11.m6.dat, 12.m6.dat, 13.m6.dat, 14.m6.dat, 15.m6.dat, 16.m6.dat, 17.m6.dat, 18.m6.dat, 19.m6.dat, 20.m6.dat, 21.m6.dat, 22.m6.dat, 23.m6.dat, 24.m6.dat, 25.m6.dat, and 26.m6.dat, respectively. Results by LAQGSM03.03 used as a stand-alone code are presented in files with similar names, simply using in their names "laq" instead of "m6". Experimental data are presented in files with similar names, simply using in their names "exp" instead of "m6".

Template for plotting all these results compared with the measured data using xmgrace are presented in files 3.fig, 4.fig, 5.fig, 6.fig, 7.fig, 8.fig, 9.fig, 10.fig, 11.fig, 12.fig, 13.fig, 14.fig, 15.fig, 16.fig, 17.fig, 18.fig, 19.fig, 20.fig, 21.fig, 22.fig, 23.fig, 24.fig, 25.fig, and 26.fig, respectively.

Postscript files generated by xmgrace for all the plots are presented in files with similar names, simply using in their names extensions "ps" instead of "fig".

To ease an overview of all these product yields, we provide also a summary file Fe600C.pdf which shows cross sections for all products with Z from 3 to 26. This summary pdf file was produced with the LaTeX file Fe600C.tex using the listed above postscript files as input.



Figure 9: Experimental mass number distribution of product yields [30] (filled circles) from the 600 MeV/nucleon  ${}^{56}$ Fe +  ${}^{12}$ C reaction compared with results by LAQGSM03.03 [9, 27] used as a stand alone code (blue solid lines) and by MCNP6 using the LAQGSM03.03 event-generator (red dashed lines), as indicated.

# 3.3. 1 GeV/A $^{208}$ Pb + $^{9}$ Be

This MCNP6 problem is to test the applicability of MCNP6 using the LAQGSM03.03 event generator to describe production cross sections of heavy neutron-rich nuclei approaching the nucleosynthesis r-process path around A=195. The production of heavy neutron-rich nuclei in the laboratory has been a challenging problem in the last decades. Very neutron-rich nuclei are unstable, and the more exotic they are, the shorter their half-lives. Radioactive nuclei play an important role in many cosmic phenomena, and information on these nuclei is particularly important to improve our understanding of the processes that shape our universe. In particular, one of the major challenges of nuclear astrophysics is to explain how the heavy elements are created in the universe.

Namely, in this test problem, we calculate with MCNP6 using LAQGSM03.03 with the GENXS option the yields of projectilelike fragments in the reaction  $^{208}$ Pb +  $^{9}$ Be at a laboratory energy of 1 GeV/nucleon and to compare our results with the experimental cross sections of heavy neutron-rich nuclei measured recently at GSI for this reaction. Numerical valued of measured data are published Tab. III of the paper [31].

The MCNP6 main input file for this problem is Pb208\_Be\_1000, presented in subdirectory /VALIDATION\_LAQGSM/Inputs/. Let us recall that the GENXS option of MCNP6 requires a second, auxiliary, input file; for this problem, we use the auxiliary MCNP6 input file xeal790, shown in the same subdirectory. Both input files are presented below.

# Pb208\_Be\_1000:

```
MCNP6 test: 1000 MeV/A 208Pb82 + 9Be4 by LAQGSM03.03, nevtype=66
 1
   1
      1.0
          -1 2 -3
 2
   0
          -4 (1:-2:3)
 3
   0
           4
          _____
 1
   cz 4.0
 2
   pz -1.0
 3
   pz 1.0
 4
   SO
      50.0
 _____
dbcn 28j 1
 m1 4009 1.0
 sdef erg=208000 par=82208 dir=1 pos=0 0 0 vec 0 0 1
 imp:n 1 1 0
 imp:h 1 1 0
 phys:g 200
 phys:d 200
 phys:h 200
 phys:# 208500
 mode #natdsh
```

!!!

```
nps 10000000
prdmp 500000 200000 1
```

#### **xeal790**:

MCNP6 test: 790 MeV/A Xe129 + A127 by LASQGSM03.0, nevtype=66 1 0 1 / Cross Section Edit 50 0 9 / 5. 10. 15. 20. 25. 30. 35. 40. 45. 50. 55. 60. 65. 70. 75. 80. 85. 90. 95. 100. 150. / 1 5 6 7 8 21 22 23 24 /

We calculated this test problem with MPI using 8 nodes, 64 processors, on the "Moonlight" supercomputer of LANL. The output file, Pb208\_Be\_1000.mpi.o, is presented in subdirectory: /VALIDATION\_LAQGSM/Templates/LINUX/.

The MCNP6 cross sections for the production of different isotopes are printed (in barns) in the corresponding portion of the table entitled "Distribution of residual nuclei" of the output file. To help plotting these results with xmgrace, we copy here the MCNP6 results for all measured (only) products in separate files. The cross sections for the production of isotopes with Z=70, 71, 72, 73, 74, 75, 76, 77, 78, 79, 80, 81, 82, and 83 are presented in files 70.m6.dat, 71.m6.dat, 72.m6.dat, 73m6.dat, 74.m6.dat, 75.m6.dat, 76.m6.dat, 77.m6.dat, 78.m6.dat, 79.m6.dat, 80.m6.dat, 81.m6.dat, 82.m6.dat, and 83.m6.dat, respectively. Results by LAQGSM03.03 used as a stand-alone code are presented in files with similar names, simply using in their names "noGPL" instead of "m6". Experimental data are presented in files with similar names, simply using in their names "exp" instead of "m6".

Template for plotting all these results compared with the measured data using xmgrace are presented in files PbBe1M.fig and PbBe2M.fig, respectively.

Postscript files generated by xmgrace for the two plots are presented in files with similar names, simply using in their names extensions "eps" instead of "fig". To ease an overview of all these product yields, we provide also a summary file PbBe.M6.pdf which shows cross sections for all products with Z from 70 to 83. This summary pdf file was produced with the LaTeX file PbBe.M6.tex using the listed above \*.eps files as input.

As the experimental yields of products are measured (or more exactly are published) only for neutron-rich nuclei, we can not integrate (sum) the measured cross sections over the charge of the products to get a proper estimation of experimental A-distribution of all products from this reaction, or to integrate (sum) the measured yields over the mass number of products, to get experimental Z-distribution of products. However, we can do so for several values of A and Z of products near the <sup>208</sup>Pb projectile, to get a very rough estimation of experimental A- and Z-distribution of products near the  $^{208}$ Pb projectile: as the neutron-rich isotopes measured for these products represent the major part of the corresponding integral cross sections, and such estimations for products very near the <sup>208</sup>Pb projectile would be reliable enough and not too rough. Taking into account that A- and Z-distributions of all products from any nuclear reaction are very useful from a theoretical point of view to understand better the mechanisms of nuclear reaction, we performed such an "integration" of the measured cross sections and compare them with calculated A- and Z-distributions of all products. Experimental A-distributions of several production near the <sup>208</sup>Pb projectile are presented in the files Aexp07\_1.dat (reliable estimation) and Aexp07\_2.dat (not so reliable estimation); similar experimental Z-distribution of products are presented in the files Zexp07\_1.dat (reliable estimation) and Zexp07\_2.dat (not so reliable estimation). MCNP6 A- and Z-distributions of all products are copied from the output file in separate files A.M6.dat and Z.M6.dat, respectively. Similar results by LAQGSM03.03 used as a stand-alone code are presented in files with similar names, simply using in their names "noGPL" instead of "M". Template for plotting all these results compared with the measured data using xmgrace are presented in files A.M.fig and Z.M.fig, respectively. Postscript files generated by xmgrace for the two plots are presented in files with similar names, simply using in their names extensions "eps" instead of "fig". To ease an overview of all these product yields, we provide also a summary file PbBe\_AZ.M.pdf. This summary pdf file was produced with the LaTeX file PbBe\_AZ.M.tex using the listed above \*.eps files as input.



Figure 10: Experimental mass number distribution of yields of products with Z from 70 to 83 [31] (symbols) from the 1 GeV/nucleon  $^{208}$ Pb +  $^{9}$ Be reaction compared with results by LAQGSM03.03 [9, 27] used as a stand alone code (color solid lines) and by MCNP6 using the LAQGSM03.03 event-generator (color dashed lines), as indicated.



Figure 11: Comparison of calculated by MCNP6 and bf LAQGSM03.03 used as a stand alone code A- and Z-distributions of all products from the reaction 1 GeV/nucleon <sup>208</sup>Pb + <sup>9</sup>Be with a rough estimate of several experimental values for such characteristics obtained summing the measured [31] (symbols) yields of only a neutron-rich part of all products (see more details in the text) from this reaction, as indicated.

# 3.4. 120 GeV p and $\pi^+ + {}^{nat}Cu$ and ${}^{nat}Fe$

This MCNP6 problem is to test the applicability of MCNP6 using the LAQGSM03.03 event generator to describe spallation reactions induced by protons and pions on Fe and Cu targets at ultra-relativistic energies of 120 GeV, the highest energy were experimental data are available so far for spallation reactions induced by pions. These spallation reactions are of direct relevance in activation studies, since <sup>nat</sup>Cu and <sup>nat</sup>Fe are commonly employed in high-energy particle accelerators and their surrounding structures. An accurate knowledge of the spallation product inventory within a target is important for many applications: Disposal of material, operation, maintenance, safety and decay heat analysis for neutron spallation sources, activation issues in high-energy particle accelerators, and benchmarking of Monte Carlo codes, like our MCNP6.

Namely, in this test problem, we calculate with MCNP6 using LAQGSM03.03 with the GENXS option the yields of products from reactions induced by 120 GeV/c protons and positive pions on thin natural copper and iron targets. Numerical values of measured data are published Tabs. II and III of the paper [32]. For simplicity, we assume, just as was assumed in the original paper listed above, that the particle energy is of 120 GeV, even if the actual value is slightly lower (its momentum is of 120 GeV/c).

The MCNP6 input files for proton-induced reactions on Cu and Fe are p120Cu\_Laq and p120Fe\_Laq, with similar input files for reaction induced by positive pions, pip120Cu\_Laq and pip120Fe\_Laq, presented in subdirectory /VALIDATION\_LAQGSM/Inputs/. Let us recall that the GENXS option of MCNP6 requires a second, auxiliary, input file; for this test problems, we use the auxiliary MCNP6 input file inxc97 (for all four reactions), shown in the same subdirectory. All these input files are presented also below.

#### p120Cu\_Laq:

```
MCNP6 test: p + Cu by LAQGSM at 120 GeV, nevtype=66
C To test MCNP6 at the highest energy we have data: PRC 89 (2014) 034612
 1
    1
      1.0
           -1 2 -3
 2
    0
           -4 (1:-2:3)
 3
    0
            4
              _____
С
   cz 4.0
 1
 2
    pz -1.0
 3
    pz
      1.0
 4
       50.0
    so
с -----
           -----
dbcn 28j 1
     29063 0.6917 29065 0.3083
 m1
 sdef erg = 120000 par = H dir = 1 pos = 0 0 0 vec 0 0 1
 imp:n 1 1 0
 imp:h 1 1 0
 phys:h 120100
```

# p120Fe\_Laq:

```
MCNP6 test: p + Fe by LAQGSM at 120 GeV, nevtype=66
C To test MCNP6 at the highest energy we have data: PRC 89 (2014) 034612
 1 1 1.0 -1 2 -3
 2 0 -4 (1:-2:3)
 3 0
       4
c -----
 1 cz 4.0
 2 pz -1.0
 3 pz 1.0
 4 so 50.0
c ------
dbcn 28j 1
     26056 0.91754 26057 0.02119 26058 0.00281
 m1
 sdef erg = 120000 par = H dir = 1 pos = 0 0 0 vec 0 0 1
 imp:n 1 1 0
 imp:h 1 1 0
 phys:h 120100
 mode
     h
LCA 2 1 5j -1 1j 1  $ use LAQGSM, nevtype = 66
                                                  111
lcb 0 0 0 0 0 0
lea 2j0
c tropt genxs inxc97 nreact on nescat off
 tropt genxs inxc97
c ------
 print 40 110 95
c nps 1000
 nps 1000000
c prdmp 2j -1
```

# pip120Cu\_Laq:

```
MCNP6 test: pip + Cu by LAQGSM at 120 GeV, nevtype=66
C To test MCNP6 at the highest energy we have data: PRC 89 (2014) 034612
 1 1 1.0 -1 2 -3
 2 0 -4 (1:-2:3)
 3 0
         4
c ------
 1 cz 4.0
 2 pz -1.0
 3 pz 1.0
 4 so 50.0
с -----
dbcn 28j 1
     29063 0.6917 29065 0.3083
 m1
 sdef erg = 120000 par = / dir = 1 pos = 0 0 0 vec 0 0 1
 imp:n 1 1 0
 imp:h 1 1 0
 phys:/ 121000
 phys:h 121000
 mode /
LCA 2 1 5j -1 1j 1  $ use LAQGSM, nevtype = 66
                                                  !!!
lcb 0 0 0 0 0 0
lea 2j0
c tropt genxs inxc97 nreact on nescat off
 tropt genxs inxc97
c ------
 print 40 110 95
c nps 1000
 nps 1000000
c prdmp 2j -1
```

### pip120Fe\_Laq:

```
dbcn 28j 1
      26056 0.91754 26057 0.02119 26058 0.00281
 m1
 sdef erg = 120000 par = / dir = 1 pos = 0 0 0 vec 0 0 1
 imp:n 1 1 0
 imp:h 1 1 0
 phys:/ 121000
 phys:h 121000
 mode
        /
    2 1 5j -1 1j 1
                     $ use LAQGSM, nevtype = 66
                                                               !!!
LCA
    0 0 0 0 0 0
lcb
lea 2j0
c tropt genxs inxc97 nreact on nescat off
 tropt genxs inxc97
с -----
                    -----
 print 40 110 95
 nps 1000
С
 nps 1000000
c prdmp 2j -1
```

### **inxc97**:

MCNP6 test: p + Te by LASQGSM03.03 at 23 GeV, nevtype=66
1 0 1 /
Cross Section Edit
50 0 9 /
5. 10. 15. 20. 25. 30. 35. 40. 45. 50. 55. 60. 65. 70. 75. 80.
85. 90. 95. 100. 120. /
1 5 6 7 8 21 22 23 24 /

We calculated this test problem with MPI using 8 nodes, 64 processors, on the "Moonlight" supercomputer of LANL. The output files, p120Cu\_Laq.mpi.o, p120Fe\_Laq,mpi.o, pip120Cu\_Laq.mpi.o, and pip120Fe\_Laq,mpi.o, are presented in subdirectory: /VALIDATION\_LAQGSM/Templates/LINUX/.

The MCNP6 individual cross sections for the production of different isotopes are printed (in barns) in the corresponding portion of the table entitled "Distribution of residual nuclei" of the output file. Note that some of the measured cross sections are not "individual", but are "cumulative", i.e., they contain contributions from short-lived radioactive precursors. To help plotting our MCNP6 results with xmgrace, we copy the MCNP6 values for all measured (only) products in separate files, summing the corresponding individual cross sections to get cumulative values (individual cross sections are labeled in the our plots with an "i", while cumulative ones, with a "c"). The cross sections for the production of isotopes <sup>41</sup>Ar, <sup>42</sup>K, <sup>43</sup>K, <sup>43</sup>Sc, <sup>44</sup>Sc, <sup>47</sup>Sc, <sup>48</sup>Cr, <sup>48</sup>Sc, <sup>52</sup>Mn, <sup>55</sup>Co, <sup>56</sup>Mn, <sup>57</sup>Ni, <sup>58</sup>Co, and <sup>61</sup>Cu from reactions induced by protons on <sup>nat</sup>Cu are presented in the file 120pCu.M6cum.dat, in a sequential order, with <sup>41</sup>Ar as No. 1 up to <sup>61</sup>Cu as No. 14. Similar MCNP6 results for reactions induced by pions are shown in a similar way in the file 120pipCu.M6cum.dat. Similar MCNP6 results for reactions on <sup>nat</sup>Fe are presented in the file 120pipCu.M6cum.dat and 120pipFe.M6cum.dat, for protons and pions, respectively (for 16 measured products on Fe, from  $^{24}$ Na, as No. 1, up to  $^{55}$ Co, as No. 16).

Experimental data are presented in files with similar names, simply using in their names "e" instead of "M6cum".

Template for plotting all these results compared with the measured data using xmgrace are presented in files 120p\_Cu-cum.fig, 120pip\_Cu-cum.fig, 120p\_Fe-cum.fig, and 120pip\_Fe-cum.fig, respectively.

Postscript files generated by xmgrace for the four plots are presented in files with similar names, simply using in their names extensions "ps" instead of "fig". To ease an overview of all these product yields, we provide also summary files 120GeV-Cu.pdf and 120GeV-Fe.pdf which shows cross sections for reactions induces by both protons and pions on Cu and Fe, respectively. These summary pdf files were produced with the LaTeX files 120GeV-Cu.tex and 120GeV-Fe.tex using the listed above \*.ps files as input.

As the experimental yields of products are measured only for 14 ions from Cu and 16 ions from Fe, we can not integrate (sum) the measured cross sections over the charge of the products to get a good estimation of experimental A-distribution of all products from these reactions, or to integrate (sum) the measured yields over the mass number of products, to get experimental Z-distribution of products. However, we can do so for the measured (mostly, near the target nuclei) values of A and Z of products to get a qualitative rough estimation of experimental A- and Z-distribution of products from these reactions. Taking into account that A- and Z-distributions of all products from any nuclear reactions are very useful from a theoretical point of view to understand better the mechanisms of such reactions, we performed such an "integration" of the measured cross sections from  $p + {}^{nat}Fe$  (only; more products were measured from <sup>nat</sup>Fe than from <sup>nat</sup>Cu) and compare them with calculated A- and Z-distributions of all products calculated by MCNP6. Experimental A- and Z-distributions of several products from  $p + {}^{nat}Fe$  are presented in the files 120pFe.exp.A.dat and 120pFe.exp.Z.dat, respectively. Aand Z-distributions of all products calculated by MCNP6 from this reaction are shown in the files 120pFe.M6.A.dat and 120pFe.M6.Z.dat, respectively. Template for plotting all these results compared with the measured data using xmgrace are presented in files 120GeVpFe.A.fig and 120GeVpFe.Z.fig, respectively. Postscript files generated by xmgrace for the two plots are presented in files with similar names, simply using in their names extensions "ps" instead of "fig". To ease an overview of all these product yields, we provide also a summary file 120GeV-Fe.AZ.pdf. It was produced with the LaTeX file 120GeV-Fe.AZ.tex using the listed above \*.ps files as input.



Figure 12: Detailed comparison between all cross section measured in Ref. [32] from interaction of 120 GeV protons and positive pions with <sup>nat</sup>Cu (filled circles) and those calculated by MCNP6 using the LAQGSM03.03 event-generator (red lines), as indicated.



Figure 13: Detailed comparison between all cross section measured in Ref. [32] from interaction of 120 GeV protons and positive pions with <sup>nat</sup>Fe (filled circles) and those calculated by MCNP6 using the LAQGSM03.03 event-generator (red lines), as indicated.



Figure 14: Experimental mass- and charge-number distributions of yields of all products measured in Ref. [32] from the 120 GeV  $p + {}^{nat}Fe$  reaction (filled circles) compared with results by MCNP6 using the LAQGSM03.03 event-generator (red histograms), as indicated.

### 4. Conclusion

The 1.1 beta Version of MCNP6 has been validated and verified against a number of intermediate and high-energy experimental data. In the present primer, in Sections 2, we show 5 examples of test problems for MCNP6 using the Cascade-Exciton Model (CEM) eventgenerator, CEM03.03 and one example of results calculated using the Bertini+Dresner+RAL and INCL+ABLA event generators of MCNP6. Another 5 problems for the 1.1 beta Version of MCNP6 using the latest modifications of the Los Alamos version of the Quark-Gluon String Model (LAQGSM) event-generator LAQGSM03.03 are presented in Section 3.

We found that the 1.1 beta version MCNP6 describes reasonably well various measured reactions induced by protons, pions, and heavy-ions at incident energies from 10 MeV to about 120 GeV/nucleon and agrees very well with similar results obtained with CEM03.03 and LAQGSM03.03 used as stand alone codes. Most of several computational bugs and more serious physics problems observed during our current V&V have been fixed. We continue our work to solve all the known problems before the next distribution of MCNP6 to the public via RSICC at Oak Ridge.

From the results presented here as well as in Refs. [4, 5, 6, 7], we can conclude that MCNP6 is a reliable and useful Monte Carlo transport code for different applications involving reactions induced by almost all types of elementary particles and heavy-ions, in a very broad range of incident energies. We hope that the current primer will help future users of MCNP6 construct their input files and better understand the final MCNP6 results for their applications at intermediate and high energies.

#### Acknowledgments

I am grateful to my LANL colleagues, Drs. Robert C. Little, Lawrence J. Cox, Avneet Sood, Roger L. Martz, and Jeffrey S. Bull for for useful discussions, help, and support.

Last but not least, I thank Dr. Roger L. Martz for a very careful reading of the manuscript and useful suggestions on its improvement. However, the author assumes responsibility for any remaining errors and/or misprints.

This work was carried out under the auspices of the National Nuclear Security Administration of the U.S. Department of Energy at Los Alamos National Laboratory under Contract No. DE-AC52-06NA25396.

# References

- T. Goorley, M. James, T. Booth, F. Brown, J. Bull, L. J. Cox, J. Durkee, J. Elson, M. Fensin, R. A. Forster, J. Hendricks, H. G. Hughes, R. Johns, B. Kiedrowski, R. Martz, S. Mashnik, G. McKinney, D. Pelowitz, R. Prael, J. Sweezy, L. Waters, T. Wilcox, T. Zukaitis, "Initial MCNP6 Release Overview. MCNP6 version 0.1," LA-UR-11-05198, Nuclear Technology, vol. 180, No. 3, Dec. 2012, pp. 298-315.
- [2] T. Goorley, M. James, T. Booth, F. Brown, J. Bull, L.J. Cox, J. Durkee, J. Elson, M. Fensin, R.A. Forster, J. Hendricks, H.G. Hughes, R. Johns, B. Kiedrowski, R. Martz, S. Mashnik, G. McKinney, D. Pelowitz, R. Prael, J. Sweezy, L. Waters, T. Wilcox, T. Zukaitis, "Initial MCNP6 Release Overview MCNP6 Version 1.0," LA-UR-13-22934;

DOI: 10.2172/1086758; www.osti.gov/servlets/purl/1086758/; "MCNP6 Production Release," LA-UR-13-23708, Los Alamos (2013).

- [3] M. R. James, D. B. Pelowitz, A. J. Fallgren, G. E. McMath, T. E. Booth, F. B. Brown, J. S. Bull, L. J. Cox, J. S. Elson, J. W. Durkee, M. L. Fensin, A. R. Forster, J. T. Goorley, J. S. Hendricks, H. G. Hughes, R. C. Johns, B. C. Kiedrowski, G. W. McKinney, R. L. Martz, S. G. Mashnik, R. E. Prael, J. E. Sweezy, T. A. Wilcox, and A. J. Zukaitis, "MCNP6<sup>TM</sup> User's Manual. Code Version 6.1.1 Beta," LA-CP-14-00745; info:lanl-repo/laauthors/LA-CP-14-00745.
- [4] Stepan G. Mashnik, "Validation and Verification of MCNP6 against High-Energy Experimental Data and Calculations by other Codes. I. The CEM Testing Primer," LANL Report LA-UR-11-05129, Los Alamos (2011); https://mcnp.lanl.gov/.
- [5] Stepan G. Mashnik, "Validation and Verification of MCNP6 against High-Energy Experimental Data and Calculations by other Codes. II. The LAQGSM Testing Primer," LANL Report LA-UR-11-05627, Los Alamos (2011); https://mcnp.lanl.gov/.
- [6] Stepan G. Mashnik, "Validation and Verification of MCNP6 against High-Energy Experimental Data and Calculations by other Codes. III. The MPI Testing Primer," LANL Report LA-UR-13-26944, Los Alamos (2013); https://mcnp.lanl.gov/.
- [7] Stepan G. Mashnik and Leslie M. Kerby, "MCNP6 fragmentation of light nuclei at intermediate energies," LA-UR-14-22448, Los Alamos (2014); arXiv:1404.7820; https://laws.lanl.gov/vhosts/mcnp.lanl.gov/references.shtml; Nucl. Instrum. Methods A 764 (2014) 59-81.
- [8] Stepan G. Mashnik and Arnold J. Sierk, "CEM03.03 User Manual," LANL Report LA-UR-12-01364, Los Alamos (2012), https://mcnp.lanl.gov/.
- [9] S. G. Mashnik, K. K. Gudima, R. E. Prael, A. J. Sierk, M. I. Baznat, and N. V. Mokhov, "CEM03.03 and LAQGSM03.03 Event Generators for the MCNP6, MCNPX, and MARS15 Transport Codes," Invited lectures presented at the Joint ICTP-IAEA Advanced Workshop on Model Codes for Spallation Reactions, February 4–8, 2008, ICTP, Trieste, Italy, IAEA Report INDC(NDS)-0530, Distr. SC, Vienna, Austria, August 2008, p. 51; LANL Report LA-UR-08-2931, Los Alamos (2008); E-print: arXiv:0805.0751.
- [10] R. E. Prael, "Tally Edits for the MCNP6 GENXS Option," LANL Research Note X-5-RN(U) 04-41, Los Alamos (2004); LANL Report LA-UR-11-02146, Los Alamos (2011); https://mcnp.lanl.gov/.
- [11] V. S. Barashenkov, Cross Sections of Interaction of Particles and Nuclei with Nuclei, (in Russian) JINR, Dubna (1993); see tabulated data at: http://www.nea.fr/html/dbdata/bara.html.
- [12] R. F. Carlson, A. J. Cox, T. N. Nasr, M. S. De Jong, D. L. Ginther, D. K. Hasell, A. M. Sourkes, W. T. H. Van Oers, D. J. Margaziotis, "Measurements of proton total reaction cross sections for <sup>6</sup>Li, <sup>7</sup>Li, <sup>14</sup>N, <sup>20</sup>Ne and <sup>40</sup>Ar between 23 and 49 MeV," Nucl. Phys. A445 (1985) 57.
- [13] A. E. Taylor and E.Wood, "Proton scattering from light elements at 142 MeV," Nucl. Phys. 25 (1961) 642.

- [14] S. G. Mashnik, A. J. Sierk, K. A. Van Riper, and W. B. Wilson, Production and Validation of Isotope Production Cross Section Libraries for Neutrons and Protons to 1.7 GeV, LANL Report LA-UR-98-6000 (1998); in: Proc. SARE-4, Knoxville, TN, September 13-16, 1998 (ORNL, 1999, pp. 151-162); arXiv:nucl-th/9812071; our T-16 Library "T-16 Lib" is updated permanently when new experimental data became available to us.
- [15] A. Ingemarsson, J. Nyberg, P. U. Renberg, O. Sundberg, R. F. Carlson, A. Auce, R. Johansson, G. Tibell, B. C. Clark, L. K. Kerr, S. Hama, Nucl. Phys. A653 (1999) 341.
- [16] R. F. Carlson, A. J. Cox, J. R. Nimmo, N. E. Davison, S. A. Elbakr, J. L. Horton, A. Houdayer, A. M. Sourkes, W. T. H. van Oers, D. J. Margaziotis, Phys. Rev. C 12 (1975) 1167.
- [17] N. Okumura, Y. Aoki, T. Joh, Y. Honkyu, K. Hirota, K. S. Itoh, Nucl. Instrum. Methods A 487 (2002) 565.
- [18] F. S. Dietrich, E. P. Hartouni, S. C. Johnson, G. J. Schmid, R. Soltz, W. P. Abfalterer, R. C. Haight, L. S. Waters, A. L. Hanson, R. W. Finlay, G. S. Blanpied, J. Nucl. Sci. Technol. Suppl. 2 (2002) 269.
- [19] H. W. Bertini, "Low-Energy Intranuclear Cascade Calculation," Phys. Rev. 131 (1963) 1801–1871; "Intranuclear Cascade Calculation of the Secondary Nucleon Spectra from Nucleon-Nucleus Interactions in the Energy Range 340 to 2900 MeV and Comparison with Experiment", Phys. Rev. 188 (1969) 1711–1730.
- [20] R. E. Prael and M. Bozoian, "Adaptation of the Multistage Preequilibrium Model for the Monte Carlo Method," LANL Report LA-UR-88-3238, Los Alamos (September 1988).
- [21] L. Dresner, EVAP A Fortran Program for Calculation the Evaporation of Various Particles from Excited Compound Nuclei, Oak Ridge National Laboratory Report ORNL-TM-196, 1962; Miraim P. Guthrie EVAP-2 and EVAP-3: Modifications of a Code to Calculate Particle Evaporation from Excited Compound Nuclei, Oak Ridge National Laboratory Report ORNL-4379, 1969 March, 36 pp.; M. P. Guthrie, EVAP-4: Another Modification of a Code to Calculate Particle Evaporation from Excited Compound from Excited Compound Nuclei, Oak Ridge National Laboratory Report ORNL-4379, 1969 March, 36 pp.; M. P. Guthrie, EVAP-4: Another Modification of a Code to Calculate Particle Evaporation from Excited Compound Nuclei, Oak Ridge National Laboratory Report ORNL-TM-3119, 1970; P. Cloth, D. Filges, G. Sterzenbach, T. W. Armstrong, and B.L. Colborn, The KFA-Version of the High-Energy Transport Code HETC and the Generalized Evaluation Code SIMPEL, Kernforschungsanlage Jülich Report Jül-Spez-196, 1983.
- [22] F. Atchison, "Spallation and Fission in Heavy Metal Nuclei under Medium Energy Proton Bombardment," in Proc. Meeting on Targets for Neutron Beam Spallation Source, Julich, June 11–12, 1979, pp. 17–46, G. S. Bauer, Ed., Jul-Conf-34, Kernforschungsanlage Julich GmbH, Germany (1980); "A Treatment of Fission for HETC," in *Intermediate Energy Nuclear Data: Models and Codes*, pp. 199–218 in: Proc. of a Specialists's Meeting, May 30–June 1, 1994, Issy-Les-Moulineaux, France, OECD, Paris, France (1994).
- [23] J. Cugnon, C. Volant, and S. Vuillier, "Improved Intranuclear Cascade Model for Nucleon-Nucleus Interactions,"Nucl. Phys. A620 (1997) 475–509; A. Boudard, J. Cugnon, S. Leray, and C. Volant, "Intranuclear Cascade Model for a Comprehensive Description of Spallation Reaction Data," Phys. Rev. C 66 (2002) 044615.

- [24] A. R. Junghans, M. de Jong, H.-G. Clerc, A. V. Ignatyuk, G. A. Kudyaev, and K.-H. Schmidt, "Projectile-Fragment Yields as a Probe for the Collective Enhancement in the Nuclear Level Density," Nucl. Phys. A 629 (1998) 635–655; J.-J. Gaimard, and K.-H. Schmidt, "A reexamination of the abrasion-ablation model for the description of the nuclear fragmentation reaction," Nucl. Phys. A 531 (1991) 709–745.
- [25] J. W. Engle, S. G. Mashnik, H. Bach, A. Couture, R. Gritzo, D. M. Smith, L. J. Bitteker, J. L. Ullmann, M. Gulley, C. Pillai, K. D. John, E. R. Birnbaum, F.M. Nortier, "Cross Sections from 800 MeV Proton Irradiation of Terbium," Nucl. Phys. A893 (2012) 87.
- [26] Preliminary measured cross sections for the production of several nuclides from the reaction 97 MeV p + Tb were provided by Dr. J. W. Engle to the author of this work on April 18, 2012.
- [27] S. G. Mashnik, K. K. Gudima, N. V. Mokhov, and R. E. Prael, "LAQGSM03.03 Upgrade and Its Validation," Research Note X-3-RN(U)07-15, August 27, 2007; LANL Report LA-UR-07-6198; E-print: arXiv:0709.173.
- [28] Konstantin K. Gudima, Stepan G. Mashnik, and Arnold J. Sierk, "User Manual for the code LAQGSM," LANL Report LA-UR-01-6804, Los Alamos (2011), https://mcnp.lanl.gov.
- [29] J. Reinhold, J. Friese, H.-J. Korner, R. Schneider, K. Zeitelhack, H. Geissel, A. Magel, G. Munzenberg, and K. Summerer, "Projectile fragmentation of 129Xe at Elab=790A MeV," Phys. Rev. C 58 (1998) 247.
- [30] W. R. Webber, J. C. Kish, and D. A. Schrier, "Individual isotopic fragmentation cross sections of relativistic nuclei in hydrogen, helium, and carbon targets," Phys. Rev. C 41 (1990) 547.
- [31] T. Kurtukian-Nieto, J. Benlliure, K.-H. Schmidt, L. Audouin, F. Becker, B. Blank, E. Casarejos, F. Farget, M. Fernández-Ordóñez, J. Giovinazzo, D. Henzlova, B. Jurado, J. Pereira, and O. Yordanov, "Production cross sections of heavy neutron-rich nuclei approaching the nucleosynthesis r-process path around A=195," Phys. Rev. C 89 (2014) 024616.
- [32] A. Ferrari, F. P. La Torre, G. P. Manessi, F. Pozzi, and M. Silari, "Spallation cross sections for nat-Fe and nat-Cu targets for 120 GeV/c protons and pions", Phys. Rev. C 89 (2014) 034612.